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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

CONNECTICUT ASSOCIATION
OF HEALTH CARE FACILITIES, INC.,

Plaintiff, .
CASE NO. 3:10-CV-136 (PCD)
V. _
June 7, 2010
MICHAEL P. STARKOWSKI, in his official

capacity as Commissioner of Social Services,
Defendant.

PLAINTIFE’S NOTICE OF APPEAL

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1292(a)(1), Plaintiff Con-
necticut Association of Health Care Facilities, Inc. (“CAHCF”) appeals to the United States Court
of Appeals for the Second Circuit from the decision entered by this Court on June 3, 2010 [Doc.

No. 56], which denied CAHCF’s Motion for a Preliminary Injunction [Doc. No. 15].
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned certifies that on this seventh day of June, 2010, he did céuse the original
of Plaintiff’s Notice of Appeal to be filed with the Clerk of this Court in the traditional manner
in paper, accompanied by a computer disk containing a PDF version of Plaintiff’s Notice of
Appeal, along with the applicable filing fee. The undersigned also certifies that on this seventh
day of June, 2010, he did cause a true and correct copy of Plaintiff’s Notice of Appeal to be

served on all counsel of record via electronic mail, per prior agreement of counsel.

%
Michael J. Donnelly (ef07974)
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

CONNECTICUT ASSOCIATION
OF HEALTH CARE FACILITIES, INC.
Plaintiff,

V. : Civ. No. 3:10CV136(PCD)
M. JODI RELL, in her official capacity
as Governor of the State of Connecticut, and
MICHAEL P. STARKOWSKI,
in his official capacity as Commissioner of
Social Services.
Defendants.

RULING ON PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION AND
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS

Plaintiff Connecﬁcut Association of Health Care Facilities, Inc. (“CAHCF”) brings this |
six count complaint against M Jodi Rell and Michael P. Starkowski in their official capacities.
Plaintiff alleges that section 32 of Connecticut Public Act 09-5 (“section 32") is procedurally and
substantively preempted by the Medicaid Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A). Plaintiff also
alleges violations of its rights under 42 U.S.C..§ 1396a(a)(30)(A) and 42 U.S.C. §
1396a(a)(13)(A) as well a taking of private property in Violatioﬁ of the Fifth Amendment of the
United States Constitution and article I, section 11 of the Connecticut Constitution. Plaintiff
moves for a Preliminary Injunction enjoining the enforcement of section 32 [Doc. No. 15].
Defendants oppose this fnotion and move pursuant to.FED. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) to diémiss all
counts of the complaint [Doc. No. 39]. The two motions will be addressed together, as they raise
similar issues and the parties filed consolidated briefs.

In short, Plaintiff alleges that the methods and procedures the State of Connecticut uses to
determine reimbursement rates to Medicaid participating nursing facilities is preempted by the |

“equal access” provision of the Medicaid Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A). Plaintiff argues that
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the method used to set rates conflicts with federal requirements and that the payments do not
assure efﬁcienf, economic or quality care and do not afford Medicaid beneficiaries equal access
to nursing home services. (Compl. § 1.) Plaintiff also argues that Connecticut violated its rights
by not complying with the procedures set out in 42. U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(13)(A) and effecting an
unconstitutional taking of facilities’ expected financial returns.

For the reasons stated herein, Plaintiff’s motion is denied and Defendants’ rﬁotion is

granted in part and denied in part.

L BACKGROUND

The following facts are recited according to the complaint. See Ashcroft v. Igbal, 129 S.

Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009). Plaintiff CAHCF is a not;for-proﬁt trade association representing
Connecticut health care facilities that provide long-term subacute and rehabilitative serviqes.
CAHCF’s member institutions serve over 14,000 Connecticut citizens.' (Id.) Defendant M. Jodi
Rell is the Governor of the State of Connecticut and is sued in her official capacity only.
Defendant Michael P. Starkowski is the Connecticut Commissioner of Social Services and is
sued in his official capacity only.

Medicaid is a cooperative federalisrﬁ program, authorized by Title XIX of the Social
Security Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1396-1396v (“Medicaid Act”). Under the Medicaid program, the

federal government provides states with matching federal funds which are used by the states to

There are approximately 238 licensed nursing facilities and 28,000 nursing facility beds
in Connecticut. About 18,000 of these beds are paid for by Medicaid. The majority of
the 238 facilities are for-profit entities. They range in size from 30 to over 300 beds and
are supported by Medicaid, Medicare and private pay revenue. (Id. 99 26-30.)

-
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provide health care goods and services to certain low-income and disabled individuals. Although

a state’s participation in Medicaid is voluntary, once a state chooses to participate, it must

comply with the regulations in the Medicaid Act. A state must also submit a state plan for

medical assistance to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”), a component of

the United States Department of Health and Human Services. The state plan must be approved

by CMS.

The regulations at issue in this case are § 1396a(a)(30)(A), which states:

A State plan for medical assistance must . . . provide such methods and procedures
relating to the utilization of, and the payment for, care and services available under the
plan (including but not limited to utilization review plans as provided for in section
1903(i)(4) [42 USCS § 1396b(i)(4)]) as may be necessary to safeguard against
unnecessary utilization of such care and services and to assure that payments are
consistent with efficiency, economy, and quality of care and are sufficient to erlist
enough providers so that care and services are available under the plan at least to the

extent that such care and services are available to the general population in the geographic

arca.

and § 1396a(a)(13)(A), which states:

A State plan for medical assistance must provide -

for a public process for determination of rates of payment under the plan for hospital
services, nursing facility services, and services of intermediate care facilities for the
mentally retarded under which--

(i) proposed rates, the methodologies underlying the establishment of such rates,

“and justifications for the proposed rates are published,

(ii) providers, beneficiaries and their representatives, and other concerned State
residents are given a reasonable opportunity for review and comment on the proposed
rates, methodologies, and justifications, ‘

(iii) final rates, the methodologies underlying the establishment of such rates, and
justifications for such final rates are published.

Connecticut participates in Medicaid and receives federal matching funds. The
Connecticut Department of Social Services (“DSS”) is the state agency respohsible for

| administering Connecticut’s Medicaid program. Under Connecticut law, Medicaid

3.
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participating nursing facilities are paid a facility specific per diem rate for each Medicaid
beneficiary they serve. The rate is calculated annually for the time period July 1 through June
30 of the following year. (Id. § 33-34.) Each year, participatiﬁg facilities must submit cost
reports detailing their expenditures in five different categories. (Id. 19 35-36.) Medicaid
reimbursement rates are then calculated based on ‘allowable costs,” or costs reasonably and
directly related to the provision of services necessary for patient care. CONN. AGENCIES REGS.
§17-311-52(i). Allowable costs are limited by statutory ceilings, based on a percentage of the
median costs of facilities with the same license type and location. CONN. GEN. STAT. § 17b-

| 340(H(3). The regional consumer pr»ié;e index is then used to inflate costs from the cost year
to the rate year. (Compl. 9 43.)

“Rebasing” occurs periodically to assess and incorporate cost changes to a facility’s
payment rate. Rebasing involves recalculating and adjusting allowable costs to reflect more
current cost data. (Id. 9 43-44.) Prior to the enactment of section 32, CONN. GEN. STAT. §
17b-340(f)(8) required DSS to rebase nursing facilities” allowable costs “no less frequently
than every four years.” Rebasing last occurred in fiscal year 2006. (Id. ] 47.) However,
according to Plaintiff, in practice, the “stop-gain provision,” CONN. GEN. STAT. § 17b-
340(f)(4), acts as a ceiling on the per diem rate paid to a facility in disregard of the

computation of allowable costs. The stop-gain provision limits a nursing facility’s annual

rate to a specific state-wide percent increase over the previous year’s rates.” The rate setting

For example, for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2007, each facility was limited to a rate
three per cent greater than the rate in effect for the period ending June 30, 2006,

except that any facility that was issued a lower rate for the period ending June 30, 2007
than for the rate period ending June 30, 2006 was issued such rate as of July 1, 2006.
Similarly, for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2008, each facility was limited to a rate two

4.
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methodology also includes an exception whereby financially troubled facilities may be
awarded “interim rates” if the facility’s request meets statutory svt'andards of financial need,
long-term viability and defnand in the geographic area.

Plaintiff argues that the rates set by Connecticut’s most recent state budget do not
adequately reflect the cost of providing nursing home care to Medicaid patients and therefore

undermines the quality and equity of the system. Plaintiff asserts that section 32 of the

. budget, which froze reimbursements by implementing a zero percent stop-gain increase and-

not rebasing existing rates in 2010, eliminated the relationship between provider’s costs and
Medicaid per diem rates. (Compl. §{ 60-63.)

Public hearings on the Connecticut House of Representatives budget bill were
conducted from February 9, 2009 to February 23, 2009. Testimony concerning nursing
facilities’ medicaid payment rates was presented on February 18, 2009. (Id. § 88-89.)
Testimony relating to social services and the Connecticut Sénate budget bill was heard on
March 3, 2009. (Id. 1 95). On May 18, 2009, the Appropriations, Aging, Human Services
and Public Health Committees held a joint information forum on nursing home funding and
the state budget. (Id. 1 107.) Plaintiff argues that despite these hearings, the state’s
obligations under 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A) and 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(13)(A) Were not

met during the budgeting process or by the enacted budget.

and nine-tenths percent greater than the rate in effect for the period ending June 30,
2007, except that any facility that was issued a lower rate for the period ending June 30,
2008 than for the rate period ending June 30, 2007 was issued such lower rate effective
July 1,2007. For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2009, rates in effect for the period
ending June 30, 2008 remained in effect until June 30, 2009, except that any facility that
was issued a lower rate for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2009 was issued such lower

rate. (Id. 1 50.)
-5-
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Throughout the summer of 2009, Connecticut’s government faced a budget impasse.
The Connecticut General Assembly did not pass the bills first introduced in February 2009
and discussed in the hearings. However, the various versions of the budget, including the bill
discussed at the hearings and the bill eventﬁally signed into l.aw, all proposed the same
Medicaid per diem rates. After inaction by the General Assembly on the Governor’s first
proposed budget, Governor Rell introduced a second budget on May 28, 2009. The General
Assembly convened a special session but the fiscal year began without a budget. Governor
Rell signed an executive act to conﬁnue the operation of th¢ State until a new budget could ,
be signed into law. Finally, a fourth proposed budget was introduced and passed by both the
House and Senate. It became law without the Governor’s signature on September 8, 2009.
On October 5, 2009, Governor Rell signed the bill which became Public Act 09-5, Séptember/
Special Session, 2009.

Section 32 of Public Act 09-5 freezes nursing facility Medicaid reimbursement rates
until July 1, 2011. (Id.  8.) It eliminated scheduled 2010 rate rebasing and amended the
stop-gain provision to state that rates in effect for the period ending June 30, 2009 will
remain in effect until June 30, 2011.} In addition, beginning in fiscal year 2011 and
continuing thereafter, one-half of each facilities" June payments will be delayed until July.v

(Id. 9 153.) The Connecticut Office of Fiscal Analysis found that these amendments would

Section 32 amended Connecticut’s stop-gain provision by adding the following to
section 17b-340(f)(4) of the Connecticut General Statutes: “For the fiscal years ending
June 30, 2010, and June 30, 2011, rates in effect for the period ending June 30, 2009,
shall remain in effect until June 30, 2011, éxcept any facility that would have been
issued a lower rate for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2010, or the fiscal year ending
June 30, 2011, due to interim rate status or agreement with the department, shall be
issued such lower rate.” ' '

-6-
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reduce state spending by $115.3 million in fiscal year 2010 and $166.4 million in fiscal year

2011. (Id. 9 85-87). While these motions were pending, CMS approved this amendment to

‘the state plan. (Mann letter, Doc. No. 53.) Plaintiff argues that this legislation violates its

rights under the procedures set forth in 42 U.S.C § 1396a(a)(13)(A) and conflicts with

procedural and substantive requirements found in 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A).

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW
A. Preliminary Injunction

In order to obtain a preliminary injunction in this circuit, the movant must

- demonstrate "(a) irreparable harm and (b) either (1) likelihood of success on the merits or (2)

sufficiently serious questions going to the merits to make them a fair ground for litigation and

a balance of hardships tipping decidedly toward the party requesting the preliminary relief."

Jackson Dairy, Inc. v. H.P. Hood & Sons, Inc., 596 F.2d 70, 72 (2d Cir. 1979) (per curiam);

see also Dallas Cowboys Cheerleaders, Inc. v. Pussycat Cinema, Ltd., 604 F_.2d 200, 206-07

(2d Cir. 1979); Western Publishing Co. v. Rose Art Indus. Inc., 910 F.2d 57, 59 (2d Cir.

1990).
| B. Motion to Dismiss
The purpose of a motion to dismiss pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
12(b)(6) “is merely to assess the legal feasibility of the complaint,.not to assay the weight of

evidence which might be offered in support thereof.” Ryder Energy Distrib. Corp. v. Merrill

Lynch Commodities Inc., 748 F.2d 774, 779 (2d Cir. 1984) (quoting Geisler v. Petrocelli, 616

F.2d 636, 639 (2d Cir. 1980)). In ruling on a motion under FED. R. C1v. P. 12(b)(6), the court
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may consider only “the facts as asserted within the four corers of the complaint, the

documents attached to the complaint as exhibits, and any documents incorporated in the

complaint by reference.” McCarthy v. Dun & Bradstreet Corp, 482 F.3d 184, 191 (2d Cir.

2007). |
The district court may dismiss a claim under FED. R. C1v. P. 12(b)(6) only if the

plaintiff’s factual allegations are not sufficient “to state a claim to relief that is plausible on

its face.” Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). “The plausibility

: standard is not akin to a probability requirement, but it asks for more than a sheer possibility
that a defendant has acted unlawfully.” Ashcroft, 129 S. Ct. at 1949.

For the purposes of a motion to dismiss, the court must take all of the factual
allegations in the complaint as true. However, this tenet “is inapplicable to legal conclusions.
Threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory
statements, do not suffice.” Id. Although detailed factual allegations are not required, a
plaintiff must provide the grounds of its entitlement to relief beyond mere “labels and

conclusions.” Bell Atlantic, 550 U.S. at 555.

1. | DISCUSSION

A. Governor Rell as a Defendant

Defendént Rell argues that she is not é proper Deféndant in this action because the
complaint does not fall within the Ex parte Young exception to Eleventh Amendment

immunity as applied to her. The Eleventh Amendment bars suits against the state in federal

court. Pennhurst State School & Hosp. v. Halderman, 465 U.S. 89, 100 (1984). However,

“where the state itself or one of its agencies or departments is not named as defendant and
-8-
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